90731-5 FILED

## LILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Sep 03, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

PETITIONER,

V.

#### A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Petitioner is the State of Washington, represented by Karl F. Sloan, Okanogan County Prosecuting Attorney.

#### **B. DECISION**

The Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision reversing Ms.

Constantine's conviction, in Court of Appeals case number 31313-1-III, filed July 31,

2014. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 24.

#### **C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. The defendant sought to offer a conclusory hearsay statement from Dr. Orvald, that did not satisfy the requirements of RCW 69.51A.010, without calling a custodian of records or Dr. Orvald to admit the statement. Did the trial court err in requiring medical testimony to admit the document necessary for the defendant to raise and affirmative defense that she was a designated provider, supporting the Court of Appeals decision reversing the defendant's conviction?
- 2 The defendant sought to offer evidence that she was growing only 15 of the 121 plants in order to assert an affirmative defense that she was a designated provider. Did the trial court err suppressing evidence of the affirmative defense where the defendant denied growing any plants and that the she patient she claimed to be providing for, had his own marijuana grow; supporting the Court of Appeals decision that the defendant should have been able to raise the provider defense at trial?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Substantive Facts Relevant to Petition

On June 30, 2010, Det. Jan Lewis, a trained aerial marijuana spotter with the North Central Washington Narcotics Task Force, and Deputy Terry Shrable were flying in an Army National Guard helicopter in the area of Revas Basin Road near Tonasket, WA. CP 141-143; RP Vol. I, July 11, 2011 (hereinafter "RP 7/11"), pg. 28-32. As the officers flew over a residence located just off Revas Basin Road they observed two greenhouses. One of the greenhouses had its plastic covering rolled back approximately half way. CP 141-143; RP 7/11 pg. 31-32. The officers were able to see approximately 20 large growing marijuana plants in the uncovered portion of the greenhouse. *Id.* The nearby residence was a small stick built house with a green roof located just east of the greenhouses. A small stick built shed with a green roof was located just to the west of the greenhouses. *Id.* 

Officers confirmed the property address with the growing marijuana was 44 Revas Basin Road, and the listed owner was co-defendant Morgan Davis. CP 142-143, RP 7-11 pg. 39-40.

On July 6, 2010, Det. Lewis and Det. Rubio flew over the property in a Border Patrol Helicopter and observed the buildings and greenhouses. CP 143-145; RP 7/11 pg. 43-45. The tops of the greenhouses were covered with plastic and dark green was visible through the plastic. *Id.* 

The greenhouses were estimated to be 50-70 feet from the residence. RP 7/11 46; CP 139-144. There were no other houses near the greenhouses. *Id.* There were no other driveways or access roads permitting access to the property and greenhouses, except for the driveway leading to the residence from the east (on the opposite side of the house from greenhouses). *Id.* 

On July 7, 2010 Det. Lewis sought a search warrant to search the two large plastic covered greenhouses, the house to the east of the greenhouses, and shed to the west of the

greenhouses. CP 139-140; RP 7/11 pg. 45. The search warrant affidavit was reviewed and signed by Judge David Edwards on July 7, 2010, and the Judge then issued a search warrant on the same day. CP 139-148; RP 7/11 pg. 45.

On July 8, 2010 the search warrant was executed on the property. Upon arrival officers made contact with the defendant, Adriane Constantine, outside the residence. RP 7/11 46-48, 124-130. She indicated her mother, or mother in law, Ms. Hale was in the house. *Id.* The defendant requested that an officer retriever her marijuana card from inside the residence. *Id.* Officers entered the residence to contact Ms. Hale and then had Ms. Hale remain outside the house in a shaded area. *Id.* The defendant's husband arrived during the execution of the warrant. RP 7/11 pg. 128-129.

During the execution of the warrant, officers located approximately 121 growing marijuana plants RP 7/11 46. A few of the plants were located growing outside of the greenhouses. RP 7/11 pg. 56.

Officers also found in the residence various quantities of processed/packaged marijuana, marijuana seeds, paperwork and receipts, cash, electronic scale, and packaging material. CP 149-152. Officers found additional drying marijuana plants hanging in the small shed. *Id.* 

The defendant was charged with one count of manufacture of marijuana under RCW 69.50.401. CP 176-177.

The trial court heard motions in limine on February 22, 2012. CP 49-53; RP 2/22/12, pg. 364. The trial court excluded evidence of the defendant's alleged medical marijuana defense, based in part on insufficiency of the record to show that the person for whom the defendant claimed to be a designated provider (Tristan Gilbert), was a qualifying patient. CP 49-53; RP

2/22/12, pg. 364. In seeking to establish herself as a designated provider, the defendant presented a document allegedly signed by Tristan Gilbert and the defendant to designate her as a medical marijuana provider. CP 67. The document contained a limit of 15 plants. CP 67. The defendant also presented a "medical authorization" purportedly signed by Dr. Thomas Orvald in which indicated the doctor was "...treating the above named patient for a terminal illness or debilitating condition as defined in RCW 69.51A.010." CP 66.

The defendant did not proceed to trial until October. The defendant was found guilty of manufacture of marijuana by a jury on October 31, 2012. CP 19.

#### 2. Procedural Facts

The defendant appealed her conviction. Division III of the Court of Appeals reversed the defendant's conviction, finding the trial court erred by requiring medical testimony to admit the authorization form needed to claim Mr. Gilbert was a qualifying patient that permitted the defendant act as a designated provider. See Appendix A.

The State now petitions for discretionary review.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with statutory authority and the rules
of evidence, where it held the trial court improperly excluded evidence about an
affirmative defense, when the defendant failed to provide sufficient admissible
evidence.

A defendant may be entitled to raise a medical marijuana defense and to have the jury instructed on this defense if he or she presents facts sufficient to warrant such an instruction. The elements of a medical marijuana affirmative defense are set out by statute and require that a

qualified patient be diagnosed by health care professional authorize by statute, with a debilitating disease and have valid documentation showing that he has been diagnosed, and also that the defendant may benefit from the use of medical marijuana. RCW 69.51A.010(4).

For the jury to be instructed on the marijuana medical defense, the burden is on the defense to present some evidence on *all* the elements of the defense. RCW 69.51A.040; *State v. Shepherd*, 110 Wn. App. 544, 41 P.3d 1235 (2002). A defendant is not entitled to have the jury instructed on a theory of the case, unless those instructions are supported by evidence, the instruction is not misleading, and it correctly informs the jury of the law. *State v. Jacobs*, 121 Wn. App. 669, 89 P.3d 232 (2004) *rev'd*, 154 Wn.2d 596, 115 P.3d 281 (2005).

The affirmative defense of medical use to marijuana crimes is statutory. The requirements to assert the defense are clear and unambiguous. A defendant asserting an affirmative defense, bears the burden of offering sufficient evidence to support that defense. State v. Tracy, 158 Wn.2d 683, 689, 147 P.3d 559 (2006)

An affirmative defense must be proved by the defendant by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Camara, 113 Wn.2d 631, 639-40, 781 P.2d 483 (1989) (consent defense to rape); State v. Rice, 102 Wn.2d 120, 122-26, 683 P.2d 199 (1984) (lack of knowledge defense to accomplice liability); State v. Moses, 79 Wn.2d 104, 110, 483 P.2d 832 (1971); State v. Mays, 65 Wn.2d 58, 68, 395 P.2d 758 (1964); State v. Knapp, 54 Wn. App. 314, 320-22, 773 P.2d 134 (1989); State v. Gilcrist, 25 Wn. App. 327, 328-29, 606 P.2d 716 (1980) (involuntary intoxication defense). This is so because generally, affirmative defenses are uniquely within the defendant's knowledge and ability to establish. Knapp, 54 Wn. App. at 320-322.

To raise an affirmative defense, the defendant must offer sufficient admissible evidence to justify giving the jury an instruction on the defense. In evaluating whether the evidence is

sufficient to support such a jury instruction, the trial court must interpret the evidence most strongly in favor of the defendant. *State v. Ginn*, 128 Wn. App. 872, 879, 117 P.3d 1155, 1159 (2005).

Former RCW 69.51A.040. Provided an "affirmative" defense to the crime of possession or manufacture of marijuana. It states in part:

- (2) If charged with a violation of state law relating to marijuana, any <u>qualifying patient</u> who is engaged in the medical use of marijuana... <u>will be deemed to have established an affirmative defense to such charges by proof of his or her compliance with the requirements provided in this chapter.</u> Any person meeting the requirements appropriate to his or her status under this chapter shall be considered to have engaged in activities permitted by this chapter and shall not be penalized in any manner, or denied any right or privilege, for such actions. (Emphasis added).
- (3) The qualifying patient, if eighteen years of age or older, shall:
  - (a) Meet all criteria for status as a qualifying patient;
  - (b) Possess no more marijuana than is necessary for the patient's personal, medical use, not exceeding the amount necessary for a sixty-day supply; and
  - (c) Present his or her *valid documentation* to any law enforcement official who questions the patient regarding his or her medical use of marijuana.

The first step in interpreting a statute is to examine its plain language. *State v. Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007). Plain meaning "is to be discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *State v. Engel*, 166 Wn.2d 572, 578, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009). If the statute is unambiguous after a review of the plain meaning, the court's inquiry is at an end.

Under former RCW 69.51A.040, in addition to meeting *all* the criteria to be a "qualifying patient" (RCW 69.51A.010); the defendant must not possesses an amount of marijuana exceeding the amount medically necessary for sixty days (i.e. 15 plants and/or 24 ounces); *and* must provide "valid documentation" to law enforcement. Even if the defendant had been able to

provide "valid" documentation, a doctor's "authorization" does not indicate that the presenter is complying with the Act. See Fry at 10.

Here the defendant did not provide a valid medical marijuana authorization at the time of the crime. The Court of Appeals decision undermines the statutory requirements set forth in RCW 69.51A, and the standards to assert an affirmative defense.

a. The defendant did not present valid medical marijuana documentation and could not show a health care provider had diagnosed a qualifying medical condition that qualified under the statute or that authorized medical marijuana.

The statute clearly requires the health care professional authorizing the defendant's medical use of marijuana to have *diagnosed* the defendant with a condition that establishes the qualifying patient status. It is not sufficient for a health care professional to simply claim that a patient has been diagnosed with a qualifying condition. Instead, the defendant must actually put on evidence that the health care professional that authorized the person to use marijuana *diagnosed* the defendant with a specific medical condition that qualifies under the statute. *State v. Fry*, 142 Wn. App. 456, 462-463, 174 P.3d 1258 (2008) *aff'd*, 168 Wn.2d 1, 228 P.3d 1 (2010).

It is the defendant's burden to show that this occurred. Even if the defendant had an authorization, reliance on the vague language of the document was insufficient to carry her burden. <sup>1</sup> The lack of information in the stock forms left the health care providers as the only witness who could provide the basic and necessary information. The forms presented did not satisfy all the elements necessary to raise an affirmative defense. The vague content and nature of the forms were also insufficient to offer the physician's opinion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The authenticity of the documents the defendant provided to assert Tristan Gilbert was a "qualifying patient" was questionable on its face. Mr. Gilberts alleged authorization form had his name is typed in different font than any other portions of the document. CP 66, 69, 70. No offer of proof, testimony, or other evidence was offered to authenticate the document.

The statute is specific in the element requiring valid documentation. The required proof is tantamount to the level of certainty required of expert opinions in courts. There are legal consequences that attach to these scientific opinions. Therefore, the statute requires the physician to express his opinion about the medical benefits of the marijuana to a level of medical certainty. *Shepherd*, 110 Wn. App. at 551.

The statute requires that the patient has been *diagnosed* by *that* physician as having a qualifying terminal or debilitating medical condition. On its face the documentation presented failed. If the document was in fact prepared by the physician, then Dr. Orvald did not state that he diagnosed Mr. Gilbert. At best he claimed to be "treating" him. Moreover the documentation fails on its face to indicate what, if any, the qualifying "*terminal or debilitating medical condition*" is that allows for the use of medical marijuana.

The documents offered by defendant were also hearsay and inadmissible under the rules of evidence. Nothing in the medical marijuana statutes overrules or amends the rules of evidence. The fact that one element of the statute requires a defendant to present documentation to law enforcement, in no way relieves the defendant of his or her burden to prove other necessary facts to raise the affirmative defense. Nor does the statute make inadmissible hearsay admissible, or eliminate the foundational requirements necessary to offer expert testimony. See ER 702. More importantly, the Statute does not limit, or eliminate, the defendant's discovery obligation under the court rules and rules of evidence, when he or she seeks to offer expert testimony. See CRR 4.7(d) and (g); ER 705.

The right to compulsory process is synonymous with the right to present a defense. *State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924, 913 P.2d 808 (1996). But the right to present a defense is not absolute. *Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d at 924-25. A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to present

relevant evidence that is not otherwise inadmissible. E.g., *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651 (1992).

The documents provided did not support all the elements required by statute, and did not establish a prima facie case to assert the affirmative defense. <sup>2</sup>

The Court of Appeals decision that the trial court committed error is not supported.

# b. The defendant did not offer evidence that she was permitted to possess more than a presumptive 60 day supply of marijuana.

It was the defendant's burden to show that she possessed no more than a presumptive 60 day supply of marijuana. See WAC 246-75-010. The presumption may be overcome with

Former RCW 69.51A.010 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The definitions governing the application of the affirmative defense of medical marijuana were set out in former RCW 69.51A.010. It stated in part:

<sup>(1) &</sup>quot;Medical use of marijuana" means the production, possession, or administration of marijuana, as defined in RCW 69.50.101(q), for the exclusive benefit of a qualifying patient in the treatment of his or her terminal or debilitating illness.

<sup>(3) &</sup>quot;Qualifying patient" means a person who:

<sup>(</sup>a) Is a patient of a physician licensed under chapter 18.71 or 18.57 RCW;

<sup>(</sup>b) Has been diagnosed by that physician as having a terminal or debilitating medical condition;

<sup>(</sup>c) Is a resident of the state of Washington at the time of such diagnosis;

<sup>(</sup>d) Has been advised by that physician about the risks and benefits of the medical use of marijuana; and

<sup>(</sup>e) Has been advised by that physician that they may benefit from the medical use of marijuana.

<sup>(4) &</sup>quot;Terminal or debilitating medical condition" means:

<sup>(</sup>a) Cancer, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), multiple sclerosis, epilepsy or other seizure disorder, or spasticity disorders; or

<sup>(</sup>b) Intractable pain, limited for the purpose of this chapter to mean pain unrelieved by standard medical treatments and medications; or

<sup>(</sup>c) Glaucoma, either acute or chronic, limited for the purpose of this chapter to mean increased intraocular pressure unrelieved by standard treatments and medications; or

<sup>(</sup>d) Any other medical condition duly approved by the Washington state medical quality assurance board [commission] as directed in this chapter.

<sup>(5) &</sup>quot;Valid documentation" means:

<sup>(</sup>a) A statement signed by a qualifying patient's physician, or a copy of the qualifying patient's pertinent medical records, which states that, in the physician's professional opinion, the potential benefits of the medical use of marijuana would likely outweigh the health risks for a particular qualifying patient; and

<sup>(</sup>b) Proof of identity such as a Washington state driver's license or identicard, as defined in RCW 46.20.035.

evidence of a qualifying patient's necessary medical use. Id.

Case law prior to establishment of the presumptive 60 day supply indicated a valid sixty-day supply requires evidence from health care professional as to how much the patient requires for a sixty-day supply because, "without that statement, there is no way for us to decide whether the amount . . . fell within the 60-day limitation imposed by the Act." *Shepherd*, 110 Wn. App. 544. In *Shepherd*, 110 Wn. App. 544, the court noted that the defendant needed to provide evidence as to the amount of marijuana the defendant needs to alleviate or mitigate his medical problems. *Shepherd*, 110 Wn. App. at 552. The court went on to note that there must be some evidence from a doctor as to the 60-day supply. The same evidence would be necessary to establish possession of amounts in excess of the presumptive 60 day supply.

The defendant did not provide evidence of the medically determined quantify of marijuana. Where defendant fails to provide evidence as to how much marijuana the patient's treating physician believed the defendant would need, the defendant has failed to prove that the number of plants seized was no more than was necessary to meet the patient's marijuana supply for *no more than* 60 days. See, *Shepherd*, 110 Wn. App. at 552-553. The statute requires that the defendant possess no more marijuana than is *necessary* for the patient's personal, medical use. The determination must be made by the physician regarding what amount is medically necessary.

In this case, the forms attributed to Dr. Orvald failed to reference any amounts. The defendant was not qualified to testify as to how much marijuana is medically necessary. ER 701 clearly states that "if a witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which are . . . (c) not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge within the scope of rule 702." Testimony

concerning the treatment of a complex medical condition is not within the scope of evidence that a lay witness would be able to testify to and thus, the defendant's opinion on how much marijuana she might medically need in 60-days is irrelevant and inadmissible to show that the defendant had only the marijuana necessary for her personal, medical 60-day supply. Further, the court in *Shepherd*, 110 Wn. App. 544 clearly indicated that this information must come from a doctor.

Based on the information presented, the defendant offered no proof to support her assertion that she needed to manufacture more than the statutory presumed 60 day supply. The defendant could not carry her burden to assert the affirmative defense.

# 2. The proposed defense that the co-defendant was responsible for the marijuana precluded raising an affirmative defense.

An affirmative defense admits the defendant committed a criminal act but pleads an excuse for doing so. *State v. Fry*, 168 Wn.2d 1, 7, 228 P.3d 1 (2010); *State v. Votava*, 149 Wn.2d 178, 187, 66 P.3d 1050 (2003) (citing *State v. Riker*, 123 Wn.2d 351, 367, 869 P.2d 43 (1994)).

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