A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Court of Appeals' decision was not timely petitioned for 

review and does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court followed 

existing precedent by holding that live medical testimony from a patient's 

physician is unnecessary to submit a "designated provider" defense to a 

jury. The writings that designated the defendant as a provider of medical 

marijuana to a particular patient, along with the physician's written 

statement that he believed the benefits of marijuana use for the patient 

outweighed the risks, met the affirmative defense requirements. The 

remaining criteria of the defense were either uncontested or properly 

labeled by Division Three as factual decisions for the jury. 

If this Court does accept review, Ms. Constantine asks this Court 

to also review Division Three's analysis of the designated provider 

defense insofar as the Court suggested that the defendant must prove she 

was treating a "qualifying patient" based on records from the patient's 

health care custodian. (Majority Ruling pgs. 15-17, FN3 and FN4) Ms. 

Constantine also asks this Court, if review is granted, to address the 

excessive jury fee of $2,343.48 that was imposed. 

B. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Issue 1: Whether this Court should deny review because the State's 
petition was untimely. 
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Issue 2: Whether this Court should deny review because the Court of 
Appeals' decision remains consistent with settled law allowing a 
designated provider defense to go to a jury for its factual determinations, 
even absent live medical testimony on the patient's medical conditions. 

Issue 3: Whether, if review is granted, this Court should also review 
Division Three's analysis suggesting that the designated provider must 
prove her patient is a "qualifying patient," and that medical records of 
such should be offered through the patient's health care records custodian. 

Issue 4: Whether, in the event that review is granted, this Court should 
also direct that any jury fee be capped at $250. 

C. RE-STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On June 30, 2010, drug task force agents flew over a property in 

rural Okanogan County that belonged to Morgan Davis and saw marijuana 

plants in a greenhouse. (RP 28, 31, 39-41, 404, 406, 407, 421, 487) The 

following week, officers seized over 121 marijuana plants and other 

paraphernalia from the home and outbuildings; Mr. Davis and his wife, 

Adrianne Constantine, were arrested for manufacturing marijuana. (RP 

46, 72,124,130,140,126,408,410-15,420,426-27,440,446-49,453-

54, 467-69, 482; CP 150-52) 

At trial, Ms. Constantine sought to offer an affirmative designated 

provider defense to the jury. She indicated that 15 of the plants were 

segregated from the others for her to provide medical marijuana to patient 

Tristan Gilbert, and that the rest belonged to her husband. (RP 345-46) 

She also offered proof that she was over 18 years old (CP 71), that Mr. 
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Gilbert gave her written designation to serve as his designated provider 

(CP 67), that certain plants were grown for Mr. Gilbert's sole use (RP 

286-88), and that the patient had this written medical authorization: 

I, Thomas Orvald, am a physician licensed in the State of 
Washington. I am treating the above named patient [Tristan 
Gilbert] for a terminal illness or a debilitating condition as defined 
in RCW 69.51A.010._ I have advised the above named patient 
about the potential risks and benefits of the medical use of 
marijuana. I have assessed the above named patient's medical 
history and medical condition. It is my medical opinion that the 
potential benefits of the medical use of marijuana would likely 
outweigh the health risks for this patient. 

(CP 66, 69) Ms. Constantine, her husband and Mr. Gilbert were all 

prepared to testify to this same information. (RP 507-08, 514-15) 

The trial court refused to allow the "designated provider" defense 

without live medical testimony about Mr. Gilbert's particular medical 

condition to prove he was a "qualifying patient." (CP 51-52) Division 

Three reversed this decision and remanded for a new trial. (Div. 3, Ruling 

on 7/3112014, hereafter "Majority Ruling") The State's petition for 

review was officially filed one day after it was due. 

D. ARGUMENT 

Issue 1: Whether this Court should deny review because the 
State's petition was untimely. 

The State's petition for review was filed after the Court's 4:30p.m. 

filing deadline on the date it was due, which made the official date of 
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filing one day late. After prompting from this Court, the State moved to 

extend the date for filing by one day. The entire basis for the request was: 

"The attorney for Petitioner was in court until late in the day on the 
last date to file the Petition and was not able to file the Petition 
until returning from court." 

(Petitioner's Motion for Extension of Time to File Petition for Review) 

The State's petition for review was due within 30 days of the Court 

of Appeal's decision. RAP 13.4(a). Division Three warned by letter that 

any petition for discretionary review must be timely "received (not 

mailed) on or before the dates they are due." (See Appendix A) 

The time to file a petition for review should only be extended "in 

extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of 

justice ... " RAP 18.8(a). "The appellate court will ordinarily hold that the 

desirability of finality of decisions outweighs the privilege of a litigant to 

obtain an extension of time under this section." RAP 18.8(b ). Courts 

have found extraordinary circumstances where the filing "despite 

reasonable diligence, was defective due to excusable error or 

circumstances beyond the party's control." Reichelt v. Raymark 

Industries, Inc., 52 Wn. App. 763, 765-66, 764 P.2d 653 (1988). 

The State offered no extraordinary circumstance for its late filing 

or any explanation as to how an extension was necessary to prevent a 

gross miscarriage of justice. Instead, the State simply indicated that the 
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petition was not filed on time because the prosecutor returned late from 

court to perform the filing. This statement does not show reasonable 

diligence by the State to meet the filing deadline, excusable error or 

circumstances beyond the party's control. Instead, the prosecutor's 

statement implies that the petition for review was already drafted and all 

that remained was for the prosecutor to return from court and e-file the 

document from his computer. The State offered no extraordinary reason 

as to why the petition was not filed before the prosecutor went to court or 

why it could not have been filed by another office staff member. 

There is no showing of reasonable diligence, excusable error or 

circumstances beyond the State's control. The State has offered no legal 

basis to justify the late filing, let alone suggested any miscarriage of 

justice would occur if this Court rejects the petition as untimely. The 

State's motion to extend does not meet RAP 18.8(b) and should be denied. 

Conversely, enlarging the time to appeal in this case would 

constitute a miscarriage of justice to the appellate system in general and to 

the Respondent specifically. If filing deadlines were of no importance, 

and missing filing deadlines of no consequence, this Court would likely 

not have asked for the State to justify its late filing in writing or invited 

this response. Granting an extension on the basis offered by the 

prosecutor in this case invites abuse of the system. Furthermore, Ms. 
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Constantine is entitled to an end to her day in court, which had 

presumptively been achieved when the time for filing the petition for 

review lapsed. See Reichelt, 52 Wn. App. at 766n.2 ("[T]he prejudice of 

granting such motions would be to the appellate system and to litigants 

generally, who are entitled to an end to their day in court.") 

The State's petition was untimely, and no extension is warranted. 

Issue 2: Whether this Court should deny review because the 
Court of Appeals' decision remains consistent with settled law 
allowing a designated provider defense to go to a jury for its factual 
determinations, even absent live medical testimony on the patient's 
medical conditions. 

If this Court enlarges the State's time for petitioning for review, 

the petition for review should be denied on its merits. 

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 
decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court 
of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of 
Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the 
Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is 
involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial 
public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13.4(b). 

The State's petition does not identify under which of the above 

criterion it seeks review. The State alleges that the Court of Appeal's 

decision "undermines statutory requirements" and conflicts with cases 

generally pertaining to proof of affirmative defenses. (See State's Petition 
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for Discretionary Review, hereafter PDR, pg. 7, passim) However, none 

of these assertions allege or establish that the Court of Appeals' decision 

actually merits review under the standards set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(4). 

The Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with case law, the 

Medical Marijuana Act, and legislative intent in that a designated provider 

need not prove a qualifying patient's particular terminal or debilitating 

condition in order to raise the designated provider affirmative defense 

before the jury. The Court of Appeals aptly wrote: 

The legislature chose to allow designated providers to rely upon a 
signed medical authorization without also requiring such providers 
to suffer criminal penalties if their reliance was misplaced ... 
Whether the [qualifying patient's] diagnosis is correct or true is not 
relevant. Because the correctness or the truth of the diagnosis is 
not relevant, the court erred in requiring Dr. Orvald to testify. 

(Majority Ruling pg. 15-16) 

A defendant provider need not prove her patient's health condition 

for her own "designated provider" defense. Designated providers and 

qualifying patients have distinct burdens for proving their respective 

defenses. These distinct burdens are for good reason: while a qualifying 

patient may be required to prove his particular medical condition, 

designated providers are neither required to do the same nor in a position 

to offer such proof due to patient confidentiality laws. State v. Otis, 151 

Wn. App. 572,578,213 P.3d 613 (2009) (disclosure of the patient's 
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specific medical condition to the designated provider " ... may conflict with 

one or more purposes of the patient-physician confidentiality statute.") 

[T]he people of the state of Washington intend that: 

Qualifying patients with terminal or debilitating illnesses who, in 
the judgment of their health care professionals, may benefit from 
the medical use of marijuana shall not be found guilty of a crime 
under state law for their possession and limited use of marijuana. 

Persons who act as designated providers to such patients shall also 
not be found guilty of a crime under state law for assisting with the 
medical use of marijuana. 

Former RCW 69.51A.005 (2010) (emphasis added).1 

To establish an affirmative marijuana defense, a "qualifying 

patient" or "designated provider" must meet "the requirements appropriate 

to his or her status under this chapter. .. " RCW 69.51A.040(2) (2007) 

(emphasis added). The qualifying patient or designated provider shall: 

(a) Meet all criteria for status as a qualifying patient or designated 
provider; 

(b) Possess no more marijuana than is necessary for the patient's 
personal, medical use, not exceeding the amount necessary for 
a sixty-day supply; and 

1 The parties and courts below appear to have inadvertently referenced only the 2007 
version of the Medical Marijuana Act. But amendments were made to some parts of this 
Act, effective one month before Ms. Constantine's arrest. See Laws 2010, ch. 284, § 1 
(eff. 6/10/2010); Substitute S.B. 5798, 6l 51 Leg., Reg. Sess. (WA 2010). The 2010 
changes do not effect this appeal, as the 2010 amendments did not alter the "designated 
provider" definition in RCW 69.51 A.040 (2007), the issue before this Court. The 
amendments changed the term "physician" to "health care professional" and added or 
amended definitions for "health care professional," "tamper resistant paper," and "valid 
documentation." See RCW 69.51A.005, .030, .060 (2010) and RCW 69.51A.Ol0(2), (5), 
(7) (2010). 
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(c) Present his or her valid documentation to any law enforcement 
official who questions the patient or provider regarding his or 
her medical use of marijuana. 

RCW 69.51A.040(3) (2007) (emphasis added). 

The Court of Appeals correctly held that subsection (b) above 

should not have prevented Ms. Constantine's affirmative "designated 

provider" defense from going before a jury. As to subsection (b) -

whether the amount of marijuana exceeded a proper 60-day supply-

Division ITI correctly ruled that this is an issue of fact for the jury to 

decide. (Majority Ruling, pg. 17 -18) Ms. Constantine asserted that she 

was responsible for 15 of the plants that were segregated from the rest of 

the 121 plants that belonged to her husband. Division Three followed 

existing precedene and held that only a jury could decide if the defendant 

had too many plants to maintain her designated provider defense. 

Similarly, although Division Three did not address subsection (c) 

of RCW 69.51A.040(3)- whether Ms. Constantine presented valid 

documentation to any law enforcement official who questioned the 

2 See Otis, 151 Wn. App. at 582 (whether 75 plants was too many to prevail on the 
affirmative defense was a factual issue that would be decided by the jury); State v. 
Adams, 148 Wn. App. 231, 198 P.3d 1057 (2009) (40 plants did not prevent the 
affirmative defense from going to the jury); State v. Ginn, 128 Wn. App. 872, 117 P.3d 
1155 (2005) (23 marijuana plants confiscated and defense still permitted); State v. 
Hanson, 138 Wn. App. 322, 157 P.3d 438 (2007) (defense allowed even though 34 plants 
had been seized;) State v. Brown, 166 Wn. App. 99, 104, 269 P.3d 359 (2012) ("[T]rial 
courts may not weigh conflicting issues of fact to deny a defendant the opportunity to 
present a medical marijuana defense ... "); State v. Fry, 168 Wn.2d 1, 11, 228 P.3d 1 
(2010) (viewing evidence in favor of defendant, he must only make prima facie showing 
[of the affirmative defense] in order to submit the defense to jury). 
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provider regarding her use of marijuana - this too was an issue of fact for 

the jury to decide. Ultimately, there were no facts to suggest that Ms. 

Constantine was ever asked to present valid documentation as a designated 

provider to any law enforcement officer. Therefore, her obligation to 

provide such documentation under RCW 69.51A.040(3)(c) never arose. 

See Hanson, 138 Wn. App. at 324; Adams, 148 Wn. App. at 236. 

Having satisfied subsections (b) and (c) of RCW 69.51A.040(3), 

all that remained for Ms. Constantine's prima facie showing of her 

medical marijuana defense was for her to meet subsection (a)- i.e., "meet 

all criteria for status as a qualifying patient or designated provider." 

RCW 69.51A.040(2)(a) (emphasis added). The criteria for status as a 

"designated provider" is set forth in RCW 69.51A.Ol0(1) (2007) (2010 

version is the same). A "designated provider" means a person who: 

(a) Is eighteen years of age or older; 

(b) Has been designated in writing by a patient to serve as a 
designated provider under this chapter; 

(c) Is prohibited from consuming marijuana obtained for the 
personal, medical use of the patient for whom the individual is 
acting as designated provider; and 

(d) Is the designated provider to only one patient at any one time. 

RCW 69.51A.Ol0(1) (2010).3 

3 C.f. RCW 69.51A.010(4) (2010) (setting forth the distinct criteria for meeting criteria 
for status as a "qualifying patient," including that the person "(a) Is a patient of a health 
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The only "designated provider" criterion that would seemingly be 

at issue in this case is subsection (b) above. Subsections (a), (c), and (d) 

were not contested below or on appeal; moreover, Ms. Constantine offered 

evidence that she was over 18 years of age, 15 of the marijuana plants 

were segregated for Mr. Gilbert's medical use, and Ms. Constantine only 

offered herself as a designated provider to this single patient. The 

remaining criterion for asserting a designated provider defense is whether 

Ms. Constantine was "designated in writing by a patient to serve as a 

designated provider under this chapter." RCW 69.51A.010(l)(b). 

Ms. Constantine met this final criterion of RCW 69.51A.010(l)(b) 

and should have been able to present her designated provider defense to 

the jury. Ms. Constantine offered a written designation provided to her by 

Mr. Gilbert, designating her as his provider for medical marijuana. (CP

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